66439-5

No. 66439-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION 1

ROBERT UTTER and FAITH IRELAND, in the name of the STATE

OF WASHINGTON

v.

BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Knoll D. Lowney, WSBA No. 23457 Smith & Lowney, P.L.L.C. 2317 East John St. Seattle, WA 98112 (206) 860-2883 Michael Withey, WSBA No. 4787 Law Offices of Michael Withey Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4200 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 405-1800

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. The Superior Court erred in granting summary judgment to BIAW, dismissing Plaintiffs' action, where there were many genuine factual disputes over whether the BIAW qualified as a political committee during the 2008 election cycle under either the "contribution" or "expenditure" prongs of the test for political committee status.

These genuine factual disputes included:

(1) During the 2008 election cycle, did the BIAW have the expectation of receiving, or actually receive, contributions for electoral activities?

(a) Did BIAW solicit pledges for political activities, as contemporaneous documents show?

(b) Did BIAW received pledges for political activities, as contemporaneous documents show?

(2) During the 2008 election cycle, did the BIAW have the expectation of making, or actually make, expenditures for political activities?

(a) Did BIAW make the \$6.6 million in political expenditures that it publicly reported making, or did it submit false campaign reporting?

(b) If these expenditures were made by another entity, did BIAW finance them?

(c) Were the expenditures financed by BIAW because they were paid from "marketing assistance fees" paid to BIAW?

(d) If these expenditures were made by another entity, did BIAW control them?

(e) Did the BIAW control the expenditures through the formal action of its Board of Directors, Executive Committee, and Senior Officers, which voted for and supervised the expenditures?

(3) During the 2008 election cycle, were electoral activities one of BIAW's primary purposes?

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

.

- 1. Did BIAW become a political committee under the "contribution" prong of the political committee test when it solicited and received pledges for its political activities in the 2008 gubernatorial race?
- 2. Did the Superior Court err in dismissing the political committee claim where all contemporaneous documents proved that the BIAW solicited and received pledges for its political activities, thereby establishing it as a political committee under the "contribution" prong of the political committee test, and BIAW's uncorroborated and self-serving testimony could at most create a genuine factual issue for trial? Genuine issues of fact include those listed above as 1, 1(a) and 1(b).
- 3. Did the Superior Court err in allowing BIAW to rebut its own contemporaneous documents with uncorroborated testimony, especially when the BIAW's self-serving testimony was internally inconsistent and the BIAW had sought to conceal material facts?
- 4. Once an organization becomes a political committee by soliciting and receiving pledges, can it annul its political committee status by having pledged amounts paid to an affiliate instead?

5. Did the Superior Court err in dismissing the political committee claim because there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether BIAW qualified as a political committee under the "expenditure" prong of the political committee test. Genuine issues of fact include those listed above as 2, 2(a), 2(b), 2(c), 2(d), 2(e), and 3.

.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the King County Superior Court dismissing Plaintiffs' citizen enforcement action, which asserted that the BIAW qualified as a political committee during the 2008 election cycle.

Plaintiffs contend that during the 2008 election cycle, the BIAW qualified as a political committee and was required to report as such under the Fair Campaign Finance Act, RCW 42.17 (the "Act"). Its failure to do so led Robert Utter and Faith Ireland ("Plaintiffs") to bring this citizen enforcement action.

On July 25, 2008, Plaintiffs notified the State Attorney General that they would file a lawsuit against the BIAW for violations of the Act if the State did not do so. Plaintiffs' Factual Record ("PFR") Tab 1 (Clerks Papers ("CP") 243-251). Plaintiffs asserted that the BIAW was legally responsible for the alleged violations of the Act, even though the independent expenditures in question were often handled through the accounts of the BIAW's for-profit affiliate, BIAW Member Services Corporation ("MSC"). *Id.* at p. 1 (CP 244).¹

On September 19, 2008, the Attorney General filed a lawsuit against MSC in Thurston County Superior Court, but chose to take no action against BIAW. Defendants Factual Record ("DFR") Tab 5 (CP

109-114). On October 6, 2008, Plaintiffs filed their suit against the

BIAW, asserting that the BIAW was required to register and report as a

political committee during the 2008 election cycle.

In the first weeks of this lawsuit, no less than three motions were

filed that argued that Plaintiffs' claims overlapped the claims of the

Attorney General in the Thurston County case against MSC.² On October

¹ Plaintiffs offered to provide evidence on this subject upon request. *Id.* fn 2. In its investigation of the complaint, the Washington Public Disclosure Commission ("PDC") did not allow Plaintiffs or their counsel to review evidence or submit briefing, and ultimately the PDC's recommendation relied primarily upon declarations of BIAW. DFR Tab 1, 2 (CP 57).

² On October 13th, the BIAW moved for a protective order arguing that Plaintiffs lacked standing in part because "plaintiffs' claims are already encompassed by an action field by the state against defendants that is currently pending before in Thurston County Superior Court." Defendants' Motion for Protective Order, at 6. Dino Rossi's briefing on his motion to quash the subpoena for his deposition made this identical argument. Rossi Reply RE: Motion to Quash/Motion for Protective Order, p. 1-2. On October 20th, BIAW filed a motion to dismiss again raising this argument. Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint, p. 2 ("nearly identical allegations form the basis of a pending Thurston County action by the AG against BIAW's Member Services Corporation".)

27, 2008, Judge Kallas rejected these jurisdictional arguments and allowed Plaintiffs to conduct pre-election discovery.³

ι

On November 3, 2010, the BIAW filed a motion for summary judgment to dismiss Plaintiffs' political committee claim.⁴ Judge Michael Heavey granted the motion on December 1, 2010. This appeal followed.

IV. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs assert that the BIAW was required to register and report as a political committee because it had "the expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in support of, or opposition to, any candidate or ballot proposition." RCW 42.17.020(39). The Courts have held that this definition creates two different avenues to qualify as a political committee: a "contribution prong" and an "expenditure prong." Plaintiffs assert that BIAW qualified under both.

• "Contribution Prong." In the 2008 election cycle, the BIAW had the "expectation of receiving contributions" for its political activities, thus qualifying under the "contribution prong." Specifically, the BIAW (not MSC) solicited and received over \$584,000 in pledges from

³ Order Granting Plaintiffs' CR30(A) Motion for Expedited Discovery and Denying Motion for Protective Order.

⁴ The lawsuit originally included a claim that the BIAW had unlawfully coordinated with candidate Dino Rossi. Plaintiffs agreed to dismiss the improper coordination claim after the PDC conducted its own investigation and recommended no further action, DFR Tab 4 (CP 89-107).

local buildings associations ("Local Associations") for its campaign to elect Dino Rossi as Governor. The Act explicitly defines these pledges as "contributions."

• Expenditure Prong." Alternatively, the BIAW qualified under the "expenditure prong" because it financed and controlled *over S6.6 million* in expenditures in support of efforts to elect Dino Rossi. The BIAW's public campaign reporting admitted these were BIAW expenditures. In defense of Plaintiffs' claims, BIAW recanted its own public filings, and claimed that MSC – not BIAW – made these expenditures. It provided no evidence to rebut its own campaign filings. Moreover, regardless of which entity wrote the checks, BIAW was legally responsible for the expenditures because it carried out these political activities with its assets and under the control of the BIAW Board of Directors ane Executive Committee.

To prove its claim, Plaintiffs rely upon contemporaneous documentation from BIAW and its contributors. BIAW sought to undermine these documents with uncorroborated and self serving testimony, but at most such testimony could create a genuine factual dispute for trial. That dispute should not have been resolved on summary judgment.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THERE WAS AT LEAST A TRIABLE ISSUE OF FACT AS TO WHETHER BIAW QUALIFIED AS A POLITICAL COMMITTEE UNDER THE "CONTRIBUTION" AND/OR "EXPENDITURE" PRONGS OF THE TEST.

The Act defines a "political committee" as "any person ... having the expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in support of, or opposition to, any candidate or any ballot proposition." RCW 42.17.020(39). This definition "sets forth two alternative prongs under which an individual or organization may become a political committee and subject to the Act's reporting requirements." *Evergreen Freedom Found. v. Wash. Educ. Ass'n* ("EFF"), *111* Wn.App. 586, 599 (2002). "Thus, a person or organization may become a political committee by either (1) expecting to receive or receiving contributions, or (2) expecting to make or making expenditures to further electoral political goals." *Id.*

"In the only Washington Supreme Court case to interpret the statutory definition of 'political committee,' the Court added a new requirement to the 'making of expenditures' prong. ... The organization making expenditures must have as its 'primary or one of the primary purposes ... to affect, directly or indirectly, governmental decision making

by supporting or opposing candidates or ballot propositions....' *EFF*, 111 Wn.App. at 599 (citations omitted).

1. Plaintiffs submitted contemporaneous documents proving that BIAW received pledges for electoral activities, which is sufficient to prevail on the claim.

In order to be deemed a political committee under the "contribution" prong, the BIAW only had to have an "expectation of receiving contributions" for electoral activities. RCW 42.17.020(39). The "contribution" prong does not include the "primary purpose" test. *EFF*, 111 Wn.App. at 599.

The Act specifically defines "contributions" to include "pledges." RCW 42.17.020(15)(a). Under the Act, "A pledge is a promise of a future contribution. Pledges of \$100 or more are reportable in Part 2 of Schedule B. A pledge may be written or oral and for cash or in-kind contribution." PFR Tab 16, p. 46 (PDC Political Committees, 2007 Instructions) (CP 345), Tab 17 (PDC website definitions) (CP 347).

Thus, to prove that the BIAW was a political committee, Plaintiffs only needed to show that the BIAW had an expectation to receive pledges for electoral activities. Plaintiffs went further, and introduced evidence that BIAW conducted a concerted effort to solicit pledges, and then received pledges, for its electoral activities.

a. Plaintiffs provided contemporaneous documents from *eight* different corporate entities proving that BIAW solicited and received pledges.

Plaintiffs produced dozens of contemporaneous documents from *eight different* entities proving that BIAW solicited and received pledges from other local building associations for electoral activities. The Declaration of former BIAW President Daimon Doyle explains that the "BIAW Senior Officers were responsible for the decision" to solicit pledges from the Local Associations. PFR Tab 19, ¶ 2 (CP 357). The BIAW Senior Officers made the requests throughout the spring of 2007. *Id.* ¶¶ 3-7.⁵

Plaintiff submitted to the trial court a chronological record of these solicitations and the pledges. The documents conclusively establish that BIAW Officers successfully solicited pledges for BIAW's political activities. The document signed by all of the Local Associations documenting their pledges stated:

WHEREAS BIAW is committing 100% of excess retro dollars to the 2008 gubernatorial election,

⁵ BIAW President Daimon Doyle reported on this fundraising at BIAW's June 29, 2007, Executive Committee Meeting. "Doyle mentioned that at BIAW's Board meeting in Spokane a special fund was set up to raise funds for the 2008 gubernatorial races. At the Olympia meeting a plan was established. President Doyle said so far 12 Local Associations had signed on to the plan and others were still considering. So far three-quarters of a million dollars had been raised." PFR Tab 49, p. 13 (CP 491).

The following local associations pledge that all Retro Marketing Assistance funds received in 2007, beyond the amount budgeted for the year, will be sent to the BIAW and placed in the BIAW 2008 gubernatorial election account, to be used for efforts in the 2008 gubernatorial race.

PFR Tab 28 (emphasis added) (CP 411). Other documents of the BIAW and the entities making the pledges are consistent (all emphasis added):

• March 6, 2007. Olympia Master Builders ("OMB") Executive

Committee passes motion to recommend "that funds received from the ROII program in excess of budget be *donated to BIAW* for the gubernatorial race." PFR 25, p. 2 (CP 402).

• March 8, 2007. OMB notifies BIAW that OMB Board voted "to

forward any funds from the [ROII] Program that OMB receives in excess of budget in 20007 *to BIAW*" for "the 2008 gubernatorial race." PFR Tab 26 (CP 405-406).

• March 9, 2007. Doyle states that Local Associations will be asked to make written "*pledges ... to the BIAW* to be used for efforts in the 2008 Gubernatorial race." PFR Tab 27 (CP 408).

• March 15, 2007. Spokane Home Builders Association ("SHBA") passes motion "to *authorize BIAW to keep* any proceeds from the ROII program over the \$275,000 budgeted in 2007 *to be used by BIAW* for the Governor's race in 2008." PFR Tab 29, p. 3 (CP 419).

• March 19, 2007. BIAW Doyle sends email to North Central Home Builders Association stating that the plan is for locals to "*pledge*" excess **ROII revenues "back to BIAW** to be used for candidate support." PFR Tab 35 (CP 435).

• March 27, 2007. Home Builders Association of Tri-Cities Board votes "to give BIAW the excess of budgeted funds ... to help in the governor's race in 2008." PFR Tab 34 (CP 433). Agenda states that meeting is on "BIAW request for ROII excess ... to be returned to BIAW to assist in governor's race."

• March 30, 2007. Home Builders Association of Kitsap County approves "*contribution to the BIAW campaign* fund for 08 governor, noting that "BIAW is attempting to raise 5 m towards an expected budget of 25 m." PFR Tab 38 (CP 440).

• April 4, 2007. OMB confirms that *OMB will forward funds "to BIAW* for the purpose of electing Dino Rossi as governor." PFR Tab 39 (CP 444).

• April 5, 2007. North Peninsula Building Association votes to give excess ROII revenues "*back to BIAW for the 2008 campaign war chest*." Minutes state "BIAW needs to build up a war chest and to support potential campaign for Dino Rossi in 2008. Daimon indicated that *not all money received would go to the Rossi campaign, that a portion would* *be held and used as in-kind contributions by BIAW*." PFR Tab 41 (CP 449).

• April 10, 2010. Central Washington Home Builders Association votes to approve "*Request from BIAW* to return excess Retro funds ... *back to BIAW for political purposes. BIAW is building a war chest for the Governor's race*" Notes that "this appears to be a one time request from BIAW to raise 2 million dollars." PFR Tab 42 (CP 452).

• June 4, 2007. Home Builders Association of Kitsap County writes to Doyle, as BIAW President, informing him that Board voted to pledge excess ROII revenues for Rossi campaign efforts. PFR Tab 47 (CP 464).

• July 2, 2007. Building Industry Association of Whatcom County ("BIAWC") discusses plan to have the "*difference withheld by BIAW* to put in the account for that candidate," noting that it would allow them to avoid reporting to PDC. PFR Tab 50 p. 1-2 (CP 493-494).

• July 11, 2007. *BIAWC votes "to allow BIAW to withhold* \$10,000 from our current check." PFR Tab 52 (CP 499).

• July 11, 2007. Board of Central Washington Home Builders Association confirms that *\$37,453.97 is "committed to BIAW" for 08 gubernatorial fund*. "We have been assured by Daimon Doyle that they will put in writing the commitment to return our \$37,453.97 to us if Dino does not run for Governor in 2008." PFR Tab 53 (CP 504). In a separate email, confirms that this is the "*Total Funds committed to BIAW's '08 Gubernatorial Race' Fund*." PFR Tab 51 (CP 499).

• July 24, 2007. Doyle tells BIAW Senior Officers that "*Eleven of the 15 locals elected to 'give back' a share of their local MAF to BIAW for the Governor's race in 2008.* With BIAW's share of \$1.47 million, you as Senior Officers have now raised over \$2 million (before taxes) for the Governor's race in 2008." PFR Tab 55 (CP 509).

• July 25, 2007. Doyle sends confirmation to Tri Cities HBA stating the following agreement: "*BIAW will retain the funds* and not issue the HBA of Tri Cities a second check. *If Dino Rossi announces his candidacy for the Governor's race in 2008, the funds become property of BIAW to dedicate towards that effort as they see fit.*" PFR Tab 56 (CP 511).

• July 31, 2007. HBA of Tri-Cities votes to "allow BIAW to keep the excess funds of \$65,000 ... for use in the Governor's race if Rossi declares." PFR Tab 57, p. 2 (CP 514).

Throughout this effort, the Senior Officers represented themselves as "BIAW Senior Officers" and President Doyle signed correspondence seeking the pledges as "BIAW President." PFR Tab 33, 36, 43, 44, 46 (CP 430, 437, 455, 457, 462).

One document specifically stated that some of the funds would be passed on, but "a portion would be held and used as *in-kind contributions by BIAW*." PFR Tab 41 (emphasis added) (CP 449).

b. The BIAW was required to register within two weeks of first having the expectation of receiving pledges, and to report the pledges when received.

The BIAW was required to register as a political committee within two weeks of first having the expectation of receiving contributions. RCW 42.17.040 ("Every political committee, within two weeks after its organization or, within two weeks after the date when it first has the expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in any election campaign, whichever is earlier, shall file a statement of organization with the commission.") According to Daimon Doyle's declaration, the plan to solicit these pledges was established in early March, 2007. PFR Tab 19 (CP 357). The BIAW was therefore required to register as a political committee in March, 2007.

At the very latest, BIAW was required to register as a political committee and report the pledges when those pledges were received. BIAW began receiving pledges almost immediately. For example, Olympia Master Builders pledged in early March, 2007. PFR Tab 25 (CP 402). Some of these pledges were for specific amounts so could be immediately reported. PFR Tab 52 (CP 499) (Whatcom HBA pledges \$10,000 "to BIAW"); PFR Tab 57 (CP 514) (HBA Tri Cities pledges

\$65,000 "to BIAW").6

Thus, BIAW was required to register as a political committee when it began soliciting pledges. Then, at the very latest, BIAW was required to report the pledges after the BIAW understood the amount of the pledge, in May or June, 2007.⁷

c. Treating pledges as contributions is a fundamental component of Washington State campaign finance laws.

The implicit defense theory is that the pledges made to BIAW are

unimportant because the BIAW never collected these pledges, choosing

⁷ WAC 390-05-215 provides that "Receipt' of a campaign contribution, as that term is used in chapter 42.17 RCW, shall be deemed to occur at the earliest of the following:

(1) The date that the candidate, treasurer, deputy treasurer, campaign manager, campaign chairperson or similarly situated campaign official obtains possession of the contribution, or

(2) The date that the candidate, treasurer, deputy treasurer, campaign manager, campaign chairperson or similarly situated campaign official is informed of the contribution, or becomes aware that the campaign, or in the case of an earmarked contribution, the intermediary or conduit, has possession of the contribution, or

(3) The date that the contribution becomes available for use by the candidate or committee."

⁶ Other pledges were not calculable until the BIAW received the 2007 retro refund from the Department of Labor and Industries on May 4, 2007. PFR Tab 75 (CP 731). At that point, BIAW was able to calculate the refund owed to local associations as compared to the budgeted amount, and could determine and report the amount of pledges. On June 29, 2007, the BIAW informed the Local Associations of the amount of their refund, so all parties at that point knew the amount of the pledges. See PFR Tabs 51, 53 (CP 497, 504).

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