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

VII. ARGUMENT FOR ANSWERING BRIEF 

Plaintiffs earlier agreed that the material facts are not in dispute. 

CP 843 (Motion for Special Setting) ("Plaintiffs contend that this case can 

be decided for Plaintiffs as a matter of law, without need for trial."). This 

Court need only determine whether the trial court reached the correct 
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result when it applied the relevant law to the undisputed facts. After 

applying the law to the facts, "[s]ummary judgment should be granted," 

where as here, "reasonable persons, giving all reasonable inferences to the 

nonmoving party, could only conclude that the moving party is entitled to 

judgment. In such cases, there is no genuine issue of material fact." 

LaMon v. Butler, 112 Wn.2d 193, 199 n.5, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989). 15 This 

Court may affirm the trial court based on any theory supported by proof in 

the record. !d. at 20~1. There are many: BIA W is entitled to judgment 

because the undisputed evidence shows (1) it did not receive or expect to 

receive contributions or make or expect to make expenditures; (2) there is 

no basis for holding BIA W responsible for the acts of its subsidiary 

BIAW-MSC; (3) BIAW did not have electoral activity as its primary 

purpose; (4) the lawsuit commenced and settled by the AG against BIAW-

MSC precludes Plaintiffs' claim; (5) the registration and reporting sought 

by Plaintiffs would burden political speech and fails the exacting scrutiny 

required of government efforts to regulate speech; and (6) the statute 

Plaintiffs seek to enforce is unconstitutionally vague. 

Plaintiffs' Opening Brief repeatedly makes vague accusations 

15 The summary judgment did not take this case from a jury; the court 
would be the trier of fact here, as there is no right to a jury trial in this 
FCP A enforcement action. State ex reI. Evergreen Freedom Found. v. 
Wash. Educ. Ass 'n, 111 Wn. App. 586, 612, 49 P.3d 894 (2002). 
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about the quality ofBIA W's evidence and accuses BIAW of rewriting 

history. This criticism is striking given shortcomings in Plaintiffs' factual 

presentation. Beginning with a 31-line Statement of the Case that cites 

only to two pleadings, three briefs, and the PDC's investigation report, 

Plaintiffs' presentation of the facts (1) fails to support factual allegations 

with citation to evidence in the record (because none exists); (2) relies on 

conjecture as ifit were fact; and (3) cites to portions of the record below 

that Plaintiffs did not designate (because the record does not say what 

Plaintiffs represent it to say). Such argument, unsupported by admissible 

evidence, will not defeat a motion for summary judgment. E.g., Michael 

v. Mosquera-Lacy, 165 Wn.2d 595, 601-02, 200 P.3d 695 (2009) (non

moving party cannot rely on speculation or argument but must set forth 

specific facts to disclose a genuine issue). 

In contrast, BIAW's evidence is robust and undisputed. BIA W 

submitted numerous contemporaneous documents and sworn declarations 

of people with knowledge (many of which were originally submitted in 

other lawsuits that pre-date this one) in support of its arguments. Indeed, 

based on the same core of evidence, the PDC, AG, and trial court have 

now all come to the same conclusion: The undisputed evidence shows 

that the activity that Plaintiffs complain of was not undertaken by BIA W 
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and, therefore, BIA W had no obligation to register and report as a political 

committee during the 2008 general election cycle. 

A. BIAW Did Not Receive or Expect to Receive Contributions 
and Did not Make or Expect to Make Expenditures in Support 
of a Candidate or Ballot Initiative. 

The trial judge, Judge Heavey, is a former state legislator and has 

hands-on experience with Washington's campaign finance laws. Giving 

his oral ruling in favor ofBIAW, he offered a simple analogy based upon 

his experience that went something like this: 16 As a candidate, Mike 

Heavey might tell his supporters, "Contribute to Mike Heavey." This does 

not mean that candidate Heavey actually expects to receive checks, 

deposit them in a personal account, and then spend them on his campaign. 

And it certainly does not make Mike Heavey a political committee. 

Candidate Heavey really intends for his supporters to contribute to his 

political committee. And that is what actually happens. 

Similarly, documents in this case mention donations to "BIA W," 

and PDC forms list contributions from "Building Industry Assn ofWa." 

But there is no genuine factual dispute that these references are to BIAW-

MSC. And there is no genuine dispute regarding what BIA W and BIA W-

MSC always intended or how the money in question was actually handled. 

Plaintiffs argue these references are to the nonprofit association, but they 

16 Unfortunately, there is no transcript from the hearing. 
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can point to absolutely no evidence to support that conjecture and nothing 

to counter the testimony and documents submitted by BIAW. 

As Plaintiffs' counsel admitted at oral argument, all the evidence 

in the record shows that BIA W -MSC received the withheld funds from the 

local association MAFs and that BIA W -MSC (not BIA W) donated to 

ChangePac, including the $584,000 in withheld MAF funds. Plaintiffs 

made similar admissions throughout the litigation. E.g., Opening Br\ 3 

(" ... the independent expenditures in question were often handled through 

the accounts ofBIAW's for-profit affiliate .... "); CP 3 n.3 (First Amended 

Complaint) ("BIA W has taken some of the Actions herein through its 

affiliate BIAW Member Services Corporation .... "), CP 14 ~ 52 

("[T]ransfers and expenditures were processed through the accounts of 

BIAW-MSC."), CP 15 ~ 55 ("BIAW ... conducted its illegal fundraising 

through the accounts of a controlled entity. ,,).17 

17 Plaintiffs hedge by using qualifiers such as "often" and "some," but no 
evidence in the record supports these qualifications. Rather, the evidence 
unequivocally demonstrates that the relevant transactions were conducted 
by BIAW-MSC. Plaintiffs' counsel knows this and in other 
contemporaneous litigation asserted that BIAW-MSC was improperly 
using funds for political purposes-the very same funds Plaintiffs now 
claim make BIAW a political committee. E.g., PIs. Mot. for Class Cert., 
at 8 (Feb. 8,2008) (W.D. Wash. Cause. No. 2:07-CV-01519-RSM) 
(asserting that BIAW-MSC is the "largest recipient" of marketing 
assistance fees); PIs. Mot. for Prelim. Inj., at 12 (Sept. 5, 2008) (Thurston 
County Superior Court Case No. 08-2-01674-6) (describing the receipt of 
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Because of the undisputed evidence and Plaintiff s admissions, 

Plaintiffs are forced to argue that what actually happened with the funds at 

issue is irrelevant. They argue that the Court should focus instead on the 

use of"BIA W" in various documents to assign liability to the non-profit, 

when there is no dispute that the documents actually describe BIAW-

MSC's role. At best, Plaintiffs are playing word games. 

Even the evidence cited by Plaintiffs (such as BIAW's tax return 

and BIAW's and BIAW-MSC's income statements, see Opening Br. 29), 

shows that BIAW-MSC, not BIAW, made electoral political expenditures. 

As a non-profit entity, BIAW must report to the IRS both revenue and 

expenses on its Form 990. See CP 316. Nowhere on that form are there 

any electoral expenditures. CP 316-330. The income statements similarly 

show that political expenditures are part of BIAW-MSC's expenses rather 

than BIAW's. CP 309-314. 

To try to bolster their political committee claim against BIA W, 

Plaintiffs direct this Court to briefs and declarations filed in other cases 

that refer to "BIA W" political activities. But that is misleading: those 

same documents expressly note that the term "BIA W" as used therein 

refers collectively to the trade association and its for-profit subsidiary (the 

"trust funds ... [by] this for-profit corporation [MSC]" that are then used 
for political purposes); CP 849 n.1. 
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distinction was immaterial in that context). E.g., Opening Br. 30 (citing to 

sentence on CP 700 that concludes with a footnote on CP 701 stating that 

BIAW and BIAW-MSC will be collectively referred to as "BIAW"; citing 

to declaration at CP 164 that specifically states at CP 156,-r 2 that "BIA W" 

is used to refer to both the trade association and non-profit). 

The evidence in the record is undisputed that BIAW did not intend 

to or actually receive or expend funds for electoral purposes, and no 

reasonable fact finder could conclude otherwise. Therefore, BIA W does 

not come within the FCPA's definition of a political committee, see RCW 

42.17.020(39), and the trial court had to grant summary judgment to 

BIA W. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986) 

(summary judgment should be denied only "if the evidence is such that a 

reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party"). 

B. There is no Basis for Imposing Liability and Additional 
Reporting Obligations on BIA W Based on the Actions of its 
Subsidiary BIA W-MSC. 

Because the actions at issue (asking for authority to withhold some 

ofthe 2007 MAF and delivering that money to ChangePac) were taken by 

BIA W -MSC, Plaintiffs are left to argue that BIA W should be responsible 

for the acts of a separate legal entity. Plaintiffs' sole argument for holding 

BIAW liable for BIAW-MSC's actions is RCW 42.17.660(2), but that 

statute simply does not apply here, as the trial court recognized. 
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Under RCW 42.17.660(2) (which appears in the FCPA under the 

"Campaign Contribution Limitation" subheading), campaign contributions 

from a corporation and its controlled entities are aggregated for purposes 

of determining whether a campaign contribution cap has been reached. 

Edelman v. State ex rei. Pub. Disclosure Comm 'n, 152 Wn.2d 584, 590, 

99 P.3d 386 (2004) ("RCW 42.17.660(2) specifies a relationship between 

entities in which those entities are considered a single entity for purposes 

of campaign contribution limits.") (emphasis added). It says nothing 

about and has nothing to do with political committee reporting. 18 

Judge Heavey aptly noted at oral argument that, if Plaintiffs' 

interpretation ofthe statute were correct, then every entity that controlled a 

political committee (such as the Trial Lawyers Association) would itself 

be required to report as a political committee as well. There would be no 

reason for any entity to set up a political committee, since it would still be 

subject to all the same onerous registration and reporting obligations after 

setting up a committee. Fortunately, this is not the law. RCW 

42.17.660(2) prevents entities from evading contribution caps by using 

18 The PDC shares this interpretation. State ex rei. Evergreen Freedom 
Found. v. Wash. Educ. Ass 'n, 111 Wn. App. 586,594 n.3, 49 P.3d 894 
(2002) (hereinafter "EFF') (describing settlement in which PDC treated 
affiliated entities as a single entity "for the purposes of sharing 
contribution limits but separate entities for purposes of reporting 
contributions"). 
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affiliates, but it imposes no registration or reporting obligation on BIA W 

as a result of the electoral activities of its subsidiaries. 

c. Supporting or Opposing Candidates or Ballot Initiatives Was 
not BIA W's Primary Purpose or One of its Primary Purposes. 

As explained above and as demonstrated by the record, BIA W is a 

trade association, promoting the interests of and providing services to its 

13,000 members. Its mission is to be the voice of the home building 

industry in Washington state and its purpose is to increase membership, 

provide education opportunities, and serve its members' needs. CP 153 ~ 

7 (McCabe I); CP 158 ~ 6 McCabe II). 

Plaintiffs' argument that BIAW is a political committee is based 

largely upon the assertion that one ofthe association's "primary purposes" 

was supporting or opposing candidates, and that assertion in tum is based 

largely on the claim that BIA W received the contributions and made the 

expenditures that were actually received and made by BIAW-MSC. For 

the reasons described in subsection A above, BIA W never expected to or 

actually did receive contributions or make expenditures supporting or 

opposing candidates or ballot initiatives: the evidence showed that the 

acts Plaintiffs complain of were committed, if at all, by BIAW-MSC. 

Similarly, for the reasons described in subsection B, above, there is no 

basis for holding BIAW liable for the electoral activity ofBIAW-MSC. 

32 



In addition to trying to ascribe BIAW-MSC's actions to BIAW, 

Plaintiffs try to make BIA W look "political" by confiating lobbying, 

legislative efforts, and other non-electoral political speech with electoral 

speech. For example, Plaintiffs quote BIA W's mission statement, which 

discusses the trade association's legislative and judicial advocacy efforts, 

as an example of political activity that subjects BIA W to reporting 

requirements. Opening Br. 30. But this gets them nowhere. The FCPA 

recognizes that such political speech is not electoral activity that subjects 

the speaker to registration and reporting requirements. RCW 

42.17.020(39) (defining "political committee" based only on electoral 

activity); EFF, 111 Wn. App. at 598 (2002) (describing burdensome 

reporting requirements). Indeed, the United States Constitution shields 

such speech from regulation. See, e.g., NAACP v. Alabama, 357 U.S. 449, 

460-61 (1958) ("[I]t is immaterial whether the beliefs sought to be 

advanced by association pertain to political, economic, religious or 

cultural matters, and state action which may have the effect of curtailing 

the freedom to associate is subject to the closest scrutiny."); Buckley v. 

Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 14 (1976) ("Discussion of public issues and debate on 

the qualifications of candidates are integral to the operation of the system 

of government established by our Constitution. The First Amendment 

affords the broadest protection to such political expression .... "); see also 
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RCW 42.17 .020(15)(b)( v) (membership organization's internal 

communications are not "contributions" under the FCP A). 

Thus, there is no evidence to support Plaintiffs claim that electoral 

political activity is BIA W's primary purpose (or even one ofBIAW's 

primary purposes). 19 State v. Dan J. Evans Campaign Camm., 86 Wn.2d 

503,509, 546 P.2d 75 (1976). The court below correctly detern1ined that 

BIA W had no obligation to register or report as a political committee. 

D. The AG's Lawsuit against BIAW-MSC Precludes Plaintiffs' 
Claim. 

BIAW argued below that the AG's Thurston County suit (in 

19 To avoid constitutional problems of vagueness and overbreadth, the 
U.S. Supreme Court has limited the definition of "political committees" in 
federal campaign finance laws to "organizations that are under the control 
of a candidate or the major purpose of which is the nomination or 
election ofa candidate. Buckley, 424 U.S. at 79 (emphasis added). This 
narrowing construction, which BIA W believes applies to both the 
contribution and expenditure prongs of the political committee test, must 
also be used when interpreting the scope of registration and reporting 
requirements for political committees under state laws as well. As the 
Fourth Circuit recognized, Buckley expressed "the Supreme Court's 
insistence that political committees can only be regulated if they have the 
support or opposition of candidates as their primary purpose." N C. Right 
to Life, Inc. v. Leake, 525 F.3d 274, 289 (4th Cir. 2008). The court in 
Leake held that it was not enough to show that one of the organization's 
major purposes was the support of candidates. The Ninth Circuit recently 
approved Washington's less strict construction, creating a circuit split. 
Human Life of Wash., Inc. v. Brumsickle, 624 F.3d 990, 1011-12 (9th Cir. 
2010). BIA W contends that it is not a political committee under either of 
the two competing formulations, but if the standard were to make a 
difference, BIA W contends that this court should follow the Buckley and 
Leake formulation (applying the narrower "the primary purpose" test). 
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response to Plaintiffs' 45-day letter) precluded Plaintiffs from bringing 

this citizens' enforcement action. The trial court did not reach this issue, 

but this Court should affirm the judgment below on this basis as well. 

By its plain terms, the FCPA allows a citizen to step into the shoes 

of the State and bring an action only when the State itself has "failed to 

commence an action." RCW 42.17.400(4)(a); see Vance v. Offices of 

Thurston County Comm'rs, 117 Wn. App. 660,670, 71 P.3d 680 (2003) 

("[A plaintiff] can bring an action only if ... authorities fail to act after 

receiving notice of possible violations."); Crisman v. Pierce County Fire 

Prot. Dist. No. 21, 115 Wn. App. 16,22,60 P.3d 652 (2002) (enforcement 

action appropriate "only after notice to and failure by the attorney general 

and the prosecuting attorney to act. "). 

There is no dispute that (1) Plaintiffs sent a notice letter to the

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